ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Annual Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2014

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
The preparation and presentation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements is the responsibility of
management. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The
consolidated financial statements and other information in Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the Annual
Report include amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. Management has determined such amounts on
a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all material
respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the Annual
Report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements, except as described further in the “Non-IFRS
Measures” section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Management maintains appropriate systems of internal accounting and administrative controls which are designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as further described in the “Controls and
Procedures” section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Management’s responsibilities for financial reporting are overseen by the Board of Directors (the “Board”), which is
ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board carries out this
responsibility principally through its Audit and Finance Committee (the “Committee”).
The Committee is appointed by the Board and all of its members are independent directors. The Committee meets
periodically with management and the external auditors to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting
process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues, to satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its
responsibilities and to review the consolidated financial statements and the external auditors’ report. The Committee
has reported its findings to the Board which has approved the consolidated financial statements and Management’s
Discussion and Analysis for issuance to shareholders. The Committee also considers, for review by the Board and
approval of shareholders, the engagement or reappointment of the external auditors.
The consolidated financial statements have been audited on behalf of shareholders by Ernst & Young LLP, the
external auditors, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors have full and
free access to management and the Committee.

Anthony Caputo
Chief Executive Officer

Maria Perrella
Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Shareholders of ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc.,
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at March 31, 2014 and 2013, and the
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors' responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. as at March 31, 2014 and 2013, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Toronto, Canada,
May 21, 2014.
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)
As at
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Costs and earnings in excess of billings
on contracts in progress
Inventories
Deposits, prepaids and other assets

7
7
8

Assets associated with discontinued operations

6

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Deferred income tax assets
Investment tax credit receivable
Portfolio investments

$

9
10
11
12
18
18
13

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Provisions
Billings in excess of costs and
earnings on contracts in progress
Current portion of long-term debt
Liabilities associated with discontinued operations
Non-current liabilities
Employee benefits
Long-term debt
Deferred income tax liability

$

16

$

14
7
16
6

15
16
18

Total liabilities
EQUITY
Share capital
Contributed surplus
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Retained deficit
Equity attributable to shareholders
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

March 31
2014

Note

$

17

$

$

76,466
117,821

March 31
2013

$

105,453
99,696

146,231
24,186
9,630
374,334
13,265
387,599

122,842
10,669
11,738
350,398
14,950
365,348

85,412
4,341
151,731
111,298
7,838
30,165
––
390,785
778,384

79,269
3,712
58,542
27,615
13,154
27,699
4,969
214,960
580,308

913
138,285
10,412

$

$

––
102,828
9,096

59,363
3,815
212,788
6,774
219,562

48,135
257
160,316
8,112
168,428

23,213
1,324
16,747
41,284
260,846

10,581
918
1,777
13,276
181,704

510,725
15,025
35,970
(44,311)
517,409
129
517,538
778,384

$

$

$

486,734
19,317
(123)
(107,407)
398,521
83
398,604
580,308

On behalf of the Board:

David McAusland
Director

Neil D. Arnold
Director

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

Years ended March 31

Note

Revenues
Revenues from construction contracts
Sale of goods
Services rendered

2014

$

597,143
42,973
43,245

2013

$

538,150
24,407
28,541

Total revenues

683,361

591,098

Operating costs and expenses
Cost of revenues
Selling, general and administrative
Stock-based compensation

501,684
113,321
7,323

441,182
89,485
3,786

61,033

56,645

3,016

2,013

58,017

54,632

8,600

13,558

49,417

41,074

12,802

(25,991)

19

Earnings from operations
Net finance costs

23

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense

18

Income from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax

6

Net income

$

62,219

$

15,083

Attributable to
Shareholders
Non-controlling interests

$

62,173
46
62,219

$

15,031
52
15,083

0.56
0.14
0.70

$

0.55
0.14
0.69

$

$
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to shareholders
Basic – from continuing operations
Basic – from discontinued operations

24
$
6
$

Earnings (loss) per share attributable to shareholders
Diluted – from continuing operations
Diluted – from discontinued operations

$

$

0.47
(0.30)
0.17

24
$
6
$

$

0.46
(0.29)
0.17

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended March 31
Net income

2014
$

62,219

2013
$

15,083

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Items to be reclassified subsequently to net income:
Currency translation adjustment (net of income taxes of $nil)

36,639

Net unrealized gain on available-for-sale financial assets
Tax impact
Gain on available-for-sale financial assets transferred to net income
Tax impact

536

285
82

321
(82)

(606)

––
––

––

Net unrealized loss on derivative financial instruments
designated as cash flow hedges
Tax impact
Loss (gain) transferred to net income for
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Tax impact

(2,478)
633

(576)
179

2,081
(543)

(79)
(39)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to net income:
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit pension plans
Tax impact
Other comprehensive income (loss)

894
29

(3,397)
187

37,016

(2,950)

Comprehensive income

$

99,235

$

12,133

Attributable to
Shareholders
Non-controlling interests

$

99,189
46
99,235

$

12,081
52
12,133

$

$

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Year ended March 31, 2014

Share
capital
Balance, at March 31, 2013

$

$

––
––
––

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income (loss)

$

510,725

19,317

$

––
––
––

––
23,991

Stock-based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Balance, at March 31, 2014

486,734

Retained
earnings
(deficit)

Contributed
surplus

2,082
(6,374)
$

15,025

$

(107,407)

Currency
translation
adjustments
$

(23)

62,173
923
63,096

––
36,639
36,639

––
––

––
––

(44,311)

$

36,616

Availablefor-sale
financial
assets
$ 239

$

Cash flow
hedges
$

(339)

––
(239)
(239)

––
(307)
(307)

––
––

––
––

––

$

(646)

Total
accumulated
other
comprehensive
income
$

$

(123)

Noncontrolling
interests
$

83

Total
equity
$

398,604

––
36,093
36,093

46
––
46

62,219
37,016
99,235

––
––

––
––

2,082
17,617

35,970

$

129

$

517,538

Year ended March 31, 2013

Share
capital
Balance, at March 31, 2012

$

$

––
––
––

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income (loss)

$

486,734

17,868

$

––
––
––

––
––
3,635

Non-controlling Interest
Stock-based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Balance, at March 31, 2013

483,099

Retained
earnings
(deficit)

Contributed
surplus

––
2,560
(1,111)
$

19,317

$

(119,210)

Currency
translation
adjustments
$

(559)

Availablefor-sale
financial
assets
$

––

Cash flow
hedges
$

176

Total
accumulated
other
comprehensive
income
$

(383)

Noncontrolling
interests
$

78

Total
equity
$

381,452

15,031
(3,210)
11,821

––
536
536

––
239
239

––
(515)
(515)

––
260
260

52
––
52

15,083
(2,950)
12,133

(18)
––
––

––
––
––

––
––
––

––
––
––

––
––
––

(47)
––
––

(65)
2,560
2,524

(107,407)

$

(23)

$ 239

$

(339)

$

(123)

$

83

$

398,604

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended March 31
Operating activities:
Income from continuing operations
Items not involving cash
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Deferred income taxes
Other items not involving cash
Stock-based compensation
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Gain on sale of portfolio investment

Note

2014

$

18
19

$
Change in non-cash operating working capital
Cash flows used in operating activities of
discontinued operations
Cash flows provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Business acquisition, net of cash acquired
Acquisition of portfolio investments
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on sale of portfolio investments
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities
of discontinued operations
Cash flows used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Restricted cash
Bank indebtedness
Repayment of long-term debt
Proceeds from long-term debt
Issuance of common shares
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities

6
$

$

6
$

8

$

$

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

49,417
7,245
11,210
(2,067)
2,210
7,323
23
(606)
74,755
(4,862)
(6,966)
62,927

(4,260)
(6,843)
(137,408)
––
155
5,247
21,846
(121,263)

1,009
(29)
(40,310)
43,236
17,617
21,523

2013

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

9,557

41,074
6,861
5,376
2,663
(142)
3,786
77
––
59,695
(26,034)
(6,987)
26,674

(7,747)
(4,750)
––
(4,648)
23
––
(111)
(17,233)

(993)
(403)
(1,282)
––
2,524
(154)
(109)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(27,256)

9,178

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

105,870

96,692

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

78,614

$

105,870

Attributable to
Cash and cash equivalents – continuing operations
Cash and cash equivalents – associated with discontinued operations

$

$

$

76,466
2,148
78,614

$

105,453
417
105,870

$
$

2,874
2,141

$
$

3,927
1,002

Supplemental information
Cash income taxes paid by continuing operations
Cash interest paid by continuing operations
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively “ATS” or “the Company”) operate
in two segments: Automation Systems (“ASG”) and Solar. The ASG segment produces customengineered turn-key automated manufacturing and test systems. The Solar segment is a turn-key solar
project developer and manufacturer of photovoltaic products. The Company has initiated a formal sale
process for the Ontario-based Solar business. Ontario Solar is presented as assets and liabilities
associated with discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of financial position and as
discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income. See note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements. As a result, ATS’ continuing operations are reported as one operating segment,
ASG. See note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Company is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and is incorporated and domiciled in Ontario,
Canada. The address of its registered office is 730 Fountain Street North, Cambridge, Ontario, Canada.
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2014 were
authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on May 21, 2014.
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
These consolidated financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, and financial assets and
financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. All consolidated financial information is presented in Canadian dollars and has
been rounded to the nearest thousands, except where otherwise stated.
Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
Basis of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries are those entities where the Company directly or indirectly owns the majority of the voting
power or can otherwise control the activities. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. Noncontrolling interests in the equity and results of the Company’s subsidiaries are presented separately in
the consolidated statements of income and within equity in the consolidated statements of financial
position.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. The Company’s
material subsidiaries are: Automation Tooling Systems Enterprises Inc. and ATS Automation Tooling
Systems GmbH. The Company has a 100% voting and equity securities interest in each of these
corporations. All material intercompany balances, transactions, revenues and expenses and profits or
losses, including dividends resulting from intercompany transactions, have been eliminated on
consolidation.
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Business combinations and goodwill: Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The cost of the acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, measured at the acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Company measures the non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.
When the Company acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed
to be an asset or liability will be recognized in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a
change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not
be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances where the contingent
consideration does not fall within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate
IFRS policy.
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Company’s share of
the net identifiable assets of the acquiree at the date of acquisition.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs
based on the level at which management monitors it. The allocation is made to those CGUs or groups of
CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.
Where goodwill forms part of a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is
measured based on the relative fair values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the CGU
retained.
(b) Interest in joint arrangements: The Company has interests in joint operations, whereby the joint
operators have a contractual arrangement that establishes joint control over the economic activities of the
individual entity. The Company recognizes its share of the joint operation’s assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses in the consolidated financial statements. The financial statements of the joint operations
are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent Company.
(c) Foreign currency: Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the subsidiary operates and is normally the currency in which the subsidiary generates and uses
cash. Each subsidiary in the Company determines its own functional currency and items included in the
consolidated financial statements of each subsidiary are measured using that functional currency. The
Company’s functional and presentation currency is the Canadian dollar.
Transactions
Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded at the functional currency rate prevailing at the date of
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency spot rate at the reporting date. All differences are recorded in the consolidated
statements of income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
9

ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value is determined.
Translation
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Canadian dollars at period end
exchange rates and their revenue and expense items are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive
income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to
that particular foreign operation is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.
(d) Revenue recognition: Revenues are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Company and the revenues can be reliably measured. Revenues are measured
at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates and sales taxes or duties.
The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenues are recognized:
Sale of goods
Revenues from the sale of goods are recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods have transferred to the buyer, usually on the delivery of goods or transfer of title to the
customer.
Rendering of services
Revenues from services rendered are recognized when the stage of completion can be measured
reliably. Service revenues include maintenance contracts, extended warranty and other services
provided. Stage of completion of the contract is determined as follows:


Revenues from time and material contracts are recognized at the contractual rates as labour hours
are delivered and direct expenses are incurred.



Revenues from long-term service contracts are recognized on a percentage of completion basis over
the term of the contracts, unless there is a pattern of recognition that more accurately represents the
stage of completion.

Construction contracts
Revenues from construction contracts are recognized using the percentage of completion method. The
degree of completion is determined based on costs incurred, excluding costs that are not representative
of progress to completion, as a percentage of total costs anticipated for each contract. Incentive awards,
claims or penalty provisions are recognized when such amounts are likely to occur and can reasonably
be estimated. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract
revenues are recognized only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. A
complete provision is made for losses on contracts in progress when such losses first become known.
Revisions in cost and profit estimates, which can be significant, are reflected in the accounting period in
which the relevant facts become known.
(e) Investment tax credits and government grants: Investment tax credits are accounted for as a
reduction in the cost of the related asset or expense where there is reasonable assurance that such
credits will be realized. Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attached conditions will be met. When the grant relates to an expense item,
it is deducted from the cost that it is intended to compensate. When the grant relates to an asset, it is
deducted from the cost of the related asset. If a grant becomes repayable, the inception to date impact of
the assistance previously recognized in earnings is reversed immediately in the period in which the
assistance becomes repayable.
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

(f) Taxes:
Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, by the reporting date, in the
countries where the Company operates and generates taxable income. Current income tax related to
items recognized directly in equity is also recognized in equity and not in the consolidated statements of
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate.
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the asset will be realized or the liability will be settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred income taxes are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:


When the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.



In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests
in joint operations, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available, against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses can be utilized, except:


When the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.



In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in joint operations, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that all or part of the deferred income tax asset will be utilized.
Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to
the extent that it has become probable the benefit will be recovered.
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right
exists to offset current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
Deferred income tax related to items recognized outside profit or loss is also recognized outside profit or
loss. Deferred income tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

Income tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate
recognition at that date, would be recognized subsequently if new information about facts and
circumstances changed. The adjustment would either be treated as a reduction to goodwill (as long as it
does not exceed goodwill) if it is incurred during the measurement period or in profit or loss.
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of sales tax, except where the sales
tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which
case the sales tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense
item as applicable. Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included.
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
accounts receivable or accounts payable in the consolidated statements of financial position.
(g) Non-current assets classified as assets associated with discontinued operations: Non-current
assets classified as assets associated with discontinued operations are measured at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets are classified as associated with
discontinued operations if their carrying amounts will be derecognized principally through a sale
transaction rather than recovered through continuing use. This condition is regarded as being met only
when the transaction is highly probable and the assets are available for immediate sale in their present
condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed transaction within one year from the date of classification. In the consolidated
statements of income of the reporting period, and of the comparable period, revenues and expenses from
discontinued operations are reported separately from revenues and expenses from continuing operations,
down to the level of net income after income taxes.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as associated with discontinued
operations are not depreciated or amortized.
(h) Property, plant and equipment: Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of
replacing component parts of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs for long-term
construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, ATS derecognizes the replaced part and recognizes
the new part with its own associated useful life and depreciation. Likewise, when a major inspection is
performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as a
replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are
recognized in the consolidated statements of income as incurred.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Buildings
Production equipment
Other equipment

25 to 40 years
3 to 10 years
3 to 10 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the term of the related lease or their remaining
useful life on a straight-line basis.
An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is derecognized
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or eventual disposition.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statements of
income when the asset is derecognized.
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The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year
end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
(i) Leases: The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the
substance of the arrangement at the inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent
on the use of a specific asset or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not
explicitly specified in an arrangement.
Finance leases, which transfer to ATS substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of
the leased item, are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and the reduction of the lease liability to achieve a constant rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognized in the consolidated statements of
income.
Leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable
certainty that ATS will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the
shorter of the estimated useful life and the lease term.
Leases where ATS does not assume substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset
are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the
consolidated statements of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
(j) Borrowing costs: Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalized as part of the cost of the respective asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period they occur.
(k) Investment property: Investment properties, which are properties held to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation, are measured at acquisition cost less straight-line depreciation and impairment
losses. The depreciation policy for investment property is consistent with the policy for owner-occupied
property.
(l) Intangible assets: Acquired intangible assets are primarily software, patents, customer relationships,
brands, technologies and licenses. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recorded at fair
market value and subsequently at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their useful economic lives, ranging from 1 to 20
years, on a straight-line basis. Intangible assets with finite lives are assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the
amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at the end of each
reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future
economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or
method, as appropriate, and are treated as a change in accounting estimate. The amortization expense
on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the consolidated statements of income in the
expense category consistent with the function of the intangible assets.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, primarily brands, are not amortized. The Company assesses
the indefinite life at each reporting date to determine if there is an indication that an intangible asset may
be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for the intangible asset is
required, the Company estimates the recoverable amount at the CGU level to determine whether the
indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made
on a prospective basis. An asset is impaired when the recoverable amount is less than their carrying
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell or its value in use.
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Impairment losses relating to intangible assets are evaluated for potential reversals when events or
changes in circumstances warrant such consideration.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the consolidated
statements of income when the asset is derecognized.
Research and development expenditures
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an individual project are
recognized as an intangible asset only when the following conditions are demonstrated:






The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale.
The Company’s intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the intangible asset.
How the asset will generate future economic benefits.
The availability of resources to complete the intangible asset.
The ability to measure reliably the expenditures during development.

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the cost model is applied
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortization of the asset begins when development is complete and the asset is available for
use. It is amortized over the period of expected future benefit. Amortization is recorded in cost of
revenues. In the event that a product program for which costs have been deferred is modified or
cancelled, the Company will assess the recoverability of the deferred costs and if considered
unrecoverable, will expense the costs in the period the assessment is made.
(m) Financial instruments:
Financial assets
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. ATS determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
All financial assets other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognized initially at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs.
ATS’ financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, investments in equities
included in portfolio investments and derivative financial instruments.
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated
statements of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in selling, general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income.
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Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less provisions for doubtful
accounts. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate
method amortization is included in net finance costs in the consolidated statements of income. The
losses arising from impairment are recognized in the consolidated statements of income in net finance
costs.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets include equity securities, which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated at fair value through profit or loss.
After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value with
unrealized gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income until the investment is
derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognized in selling, general and
administrative expenses, or determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative loss is reclassified to
the consolidated statements of income and removed from other comprehensive income.
Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or the
Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and either the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or ATS has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
Impairment of financial assets
ATS assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that
has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data
indicates that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Company first assesses whether objective evidence of
impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Company determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate.
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For available-for-sale financial assets, the Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is
objective evidence that an asset or a group of assets is impaired.
In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. ‘Significant’ is evaluated
against the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has
been below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
investment previously recognized in the consolidated statements of income — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognized in the consolidated statements of income. Impairment losses on
equity investments are not reversed through the statements of consolidated income; increases in their fair
value after impairments are recognized directly in other comprehensive income.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. The Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.
All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, carried
at amortized cost. This includes directly attributable transaction costs.
The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank indebtedness,
long-term debt and derivative financial instruments.
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term.
This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the consolidated statements of income.
Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated
statements of income when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the effective interest rate
method amortization process.
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
expired.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference
in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.
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Fair value of financial instruments
The Company primarily applies the market approach for recurring fair value measurements. Three levels
of inputs may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1 – unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data
Level 3 – unobservable inputs that are supported by no market activity
(n) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting: The Company may use derivative
financial instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its
foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Derivative financial instruments are initially
recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as
financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of derivatives are recorded directly in the consolidated statements of income, except for the
effective portion of cash flow hedges and hedges of net investments, which are recognized in other
comprehensive income.
The Company designates certain derivative financial instruments as either fair value hedges, cash flow
hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign operations. The application of hedge accounting enables
the recording of gains, losses, revenues and expenses from hedging items in the same period as those
related to the hedged item. At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Company formally designates
and documents the hedge relationship to which the Company wishes to apply hedge accounting and the
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes
identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how the entity will assess and measure the effectiveness of changes in the hedging
instrument’s fair value in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows
attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting
changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine whether they
have actually been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were
designated.
Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:
Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized directly as other
comprehensive income, while any ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the consolidated
statements of income.
Amounts recognized as other comprehensive income are transferred to the consolidated statements of
income when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as when the hedged financial income or
financial expense is recognized. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or nonfinancial liability, the amounts recognized in other comprehensive income are transferred at the initial
carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.
If the forecasted transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognized in equity is transferred to the consolidated statements of income. If the
hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its
designation as a hedge is revoked, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other
comprehensive income remains in other comprehensive income until the forecasted transaction or firm
commitment affects profit or loss.
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The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts as hedges of its exposure to foreign currency risk
on anticipated revenue or costs. The Company may use interest rate swap contracts with approved
financial institutions to reduce its exposure to floating interest rates.
Hedges of net investments
Hedges of net investments in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted
for as part of the net investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses
on the hedging instrument related to the effective portion of the hedge are recognized as other
comprehensive income while any gains or losses related to the ineffective portion are recognized in the
consolidated statements of income. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any
such gains or losses recorded in equity is transferred to the consolidated statements of income.
The Company may use forward foreign exchange contracts as a hedge of its exposure to foreign
exchange risk on its investments in foreign subsidiaries.
(o) Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value on a first-in, first-out
basis. The cost of raw materials includes purchase cost and costs incurred in bringing each product to its
present location and condition. The cost of work in progress and finished goods includes cost of raw
materials, labour and related manufacturing overhead, excluding borrowing costs, based on normal
operating capacity. Cost of inventories includes the transfer from equity of gains and losses on qualifying
cash flow hedges in respect of the purchase of raw materials. Net realizable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
(p) Impairment of non-financial assets: The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market
transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate
valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices
for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators.
Impairment losses of continuing operations, including impairment on inventories, are recognized in the
consolidated statements of income in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.
(q) Provisions: Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under
an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated
statements of income net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material,
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to
the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognized as a finance cost.
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Warranty provisions
Provisions for warranty-related costs are recognized when the product is sold or the service provided.
Initial recognition is based on historical experience. The initial estimate of warranty-related costs is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
Restructuring provisions
Restructuring provisions are only recognized when general recognition criteria for provisions are fulfilled.
Additionally, the Company needs to have in place a detailed formal plan about the business or part of the
business concerned, the location and number of employees affected, a detailed estimate of the
associated costs and the appropriate time-line. The people affected have a valid expectation that the
restructuring is being carried out or the implementation has been initiated already.
(r) Employee benefits: The Company operates pension plans in accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations in the respective countries in which the Company conducts business. The pension
benefits are provided through defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The cost of providing
benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined separately for each plan using the projected unit
credit method pro-rated on length of service and management’s best estimate assumptions to value its
pensions using a measurement date of March 31. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in the period in which they occur in
other comprehensive income. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined
benefit liability or asset and is recognized in the selling, general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statements of income.
The past service costs are recognized immediately in net earnings as an expense.
The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation using
the current interest rate at the reporting date on high quality fixed income investments with maturities that
match the expected maturities of the obligation, less the fair value of plan assets out of which the
obligations are to be settled. Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or
qualifying insurance policies. Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Company, nor can they
be paid directly to the Company. Fair value is based on market price information and in the case of
quoted securities it is the published bid price. The value of any defined benefit asset recognized is
restricted to the sum of any past service costs and actuarial gains and losses not yet recognized and the
present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the
future contributions to the plan.
(s) Stock-based payments: The Company operates both equity-settled and cash-settled share-based
compensation plans under which the entity receives services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Company or cash payments.
For equity-settled plans, namely the Employee Share Purchase Plan and the Stock Option Plan, the fair
value determined at the grant date is expensed on a proportionate basis consistent with the vesting
features of each grant and incorporates an estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market service and performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time
period).
At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognized in the consolidated statements of income with a corresponding adjustment
to equity. The proceeds received are credited to share capital and share premiums when the options are
exercised.
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For cash-settled plans, namely the Deferred Stock Unit Plan, the Share Appreciation Rights and the
Restricted Share Units, the expense is determined based on the fair value of the liability incurred at each
award date and at each subsequent statement of financial position date until the award is settled. The
fair value of the liability is measured by applying quoted market prices. Changes in fair value are
recognized in the consolidated statements of income in stock-based compensation expense.
(t) Standards adopted in fiscal 2014: Certain new standards and amendments to standards that were
adopted on April 1, 2013 are noted below.
(a) Effective April 1, 2013, the Company applied the following new IFRS standards for the first time:
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities.
The adoption of these standards and amendments affected presentation and disclosures only, and
had no other impact on the financial statements of the Company.
(b) IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 defines fair value and provides guidance for measuring fair value and identifies the required
disclosures pertaining to fair value measurement. The application of IFRS 13 has not materially
impacted the fair value measurements of the Company. Additional disclosures, where required, are
provided in the individual notes relating to the assets and liabilities whose fair values were
determined. See note 13 for the Company’s fair value hierarchy.
(c) IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements
The IASB amended IAS 1 by revising how certain items are presented in other comprehensive
income (“OCI”). Items within OCI that may be reclassified to the statements of income have been
separated from items that will not. While this amendment has impacted presentation in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, it did not impact the Company’s consolidated
income, comprehensive income or consolidated financial position.
(d) IAS 19 – Employee Benefits
Effective April 1, 2013, the Company adopted revisions to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits (“IAS 19R”).
The amendments to IAS 19 introduce a net interest approach for defined benefit obligations by
replacing the expected return on plan assets and interest costs on the defined benefit obligation with
a single net interest component determined by multiplying the net defined benefit liability or asset by
the discount rate used to determine the defined benefit obligation. Also, unvested past service costs
can no longer be deferred and recognized over future vesting periods. Instead, all past service costs
are recognized at the earlier of when the amendment occurs and when the Company recognizes
related restructuring or termination costs.
The change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively.
The adoption of IAS 19R had an immaterial impact on the financial statements of the Company.
(e) IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements
IFRS 11 replaces the previous guidance in IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures. IFRS 11 reduces the
types of joint arrangements to two: joint ventures and joint operations. IFRS 11 requires equity
accounting for interests in joint ventures, eliminating the existing policy choice of proportionate
consolidation for jointly controlled entities in IAS 31. Accounting for joint operations will follow
accounting similar to that for jointly controlled assets and jointly controlled operations under IAS 31.
This standard became effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.
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The Company’s existing joint arrangement is classified as a joint operation under the new standard
with no significant change in the accounting. The adoption of this standard did not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
(f) IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets
Effective April 1, 2013, the Company adopted revisions to IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets (“IAS 36”).
The amendments to IAS 36 reverse the unintended requirement in IFRS 13 – Fair Value
Measurement, to disclose the recoverable amount of every CGU to which significant goodwill or
indefinite-lived intangible assets have been allocated. Under the amendments, recoverable amount
is required to be disclosed only when an impairment loss has been recognized or reversed. These
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014; however, the
Company has adopted them early, starting April 1, 2013.
The adoption of IAS 36 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
(u) Standards issued but not yet effective: A number of amendments to standards and a new
interpretation have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year ended March 31, 2014, and
accordingly, have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
(a) IFRIC 21 – Levies
In May 2013, the IFRS Interpretation Committee (“IFRIC”), with the approval by the IASB, issued
IFRIC 21 – Levies. IFRIC 21 provides guidance on when to recognize a liability to pay a levy
imposed by government that is accounted for in accordance with IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets. IFRIC 21 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2014, and is to be applied retrospectively.
The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this interpretation on its consolidated
financial statements and does not expect any significant impact.
(b) IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
In November 2013, the IASB issued a revised version of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments which
introduces a new chapter on hedge accounting, putting in place a new hedge accounting model that
is designed to be more closely aligned with how entities undertake risk management activities when
hedging financial and non-financial risk exposures. The revised standard permits an entity to apply
only the requirements introduced in IFRS 9 (2010) for the presentation of gains and losses on
financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss without applying the other
requirements of IFRS 9, meaning the portion of the change in fair value related to changes in the
entity’s own credit risk can be presented in other comprehensive income rather than within the
consolidated statements of income. The amendments to IFRS 9 remove the mandatory effective
date of IFRS 9 (2013), IFRS 9 (2010) and IFRS 9 (2009), leaving the effective date open pending the
finalization of the impairment and classification and measurement requirements. Notwithstanding the
removal of an effective date, each standard remains available for application.
The Company does not anticipate early adoption and plans to adopt the standard on its effective
date, which the IASB has tentatively decided will be no earlier than January 1, 2018. The Company
is in the process of reviewing the standard to determine the impact on its consolidated financial
statements.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, JUDGMENTS AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these estimates, judgments and assumptions could result in outcomes that
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.
The Company based its estimates, judgments and assumptions on parameters available when the
consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control
of the Company. Such changes are reflected in the estimates when they occur.
The following are the critical judgments, estimates and assumptions that have been made in applying the
Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts in the
consolidated financial statements:
ESTIMATES
(a) Revenue recognition and contracts in progress: Revenues from construction contracts are
recognized on a percentage of completion basis as outlined in note 3(d) “Construction contracts.” In
applying the accounting policy on construction contracts, judgment is required in determining the
estimated costs to complete a contract. These cost estimates are reviewed at each reporting period and
by their nature may give rise to income volatility.
(b) Income taxes: Deferred income tax assets, disclosed in note 18, are recognized to the extent that it
is probable that taxable income will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant
management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable income together with future tax planning
strategies.
If the assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize the deferred tax asset changes, the Company would
be required to recognize more or fewer of the deferred tax assets which would increase or decrease
income tax expense in the period in which this is determined. The Company establishes provisions
based on reasonable estimates for possible consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the
respective countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions is based on various factors,
such as experience of previous taxation audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the
taxable entity and the respective tax authority. These provisions for uncertain tax positions are made
using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid based on a qualitative assessment of all the
relevant factors. The Company reviews the adequacy of these provisions at each quarter. However, it is
possible that at some future date an additional liability could result from audits by the taxation authorities.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amount initially recorded, such
differences will affect the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
(c) Stock-based payment transactions: The Company measures the cost of transactions with
employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments. Estimating fair value for stock-based
payment transactions requires the determination of the most appropriate valuation model, which is
dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determining the most
appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the future forfeiture rate, the expected life of the share
option, weighted average risk-free interest rate, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions
about them. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for stock-based payment
transactions are disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
(d) Impairment of non-financial assets: Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
As disclosed in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements, the calculations involve
22

ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

significant estimates and assumptions. Items estimated include cash flows, discount rates and
assumptions on revenue growth rates. These estimates could affect the Company’s future results if the
current estimates of future performance and fair values change.
(e) Employee benefits: The cost of defined benefit pension plans and the present value of the pension
obligations are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various
assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of
the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the
complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, a defined benefit
obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each
reporting date.
In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates of corporate bonds
in the respective currency, with extrapolated maturities corresponding to the expected duration of the
defined benefit obligation. The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific
country. Future salary increases and pension increases are based on expected future inflation rates for
the respective country.
Further details about the assumptions used are provided in note 15.
(f) Fair value measurement: Acquisitions that meet the definition of a business combination require the
Company to recognize the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their fair value on the date of the
acquisition. The calculation of fair value of the assets and liabilities may require the use of estimates and
assumptions, based on discounted cash flows, market information and using independent valuations and
management’s best estimates.
JUDGMENTS
(a) Discontinued operations: In fiscal 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a plan
designed to implement the separation of Solar from ATS. Ontario Solar is currently classified as assets
and liabilities associated with discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of financial position
and as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income. The Company is conducting a
formal sale process for the Ontario Solar business (see note 6). Net assets associated with discontinued
operations should not be carried at amounts that exceed estimated fair value less costs to effect the sale.
In this regard, management believes that the net assets of Ontario Solar are carried in these financial
statements at amounts that do not exceed their estimated fair values.
5. ACQUISITION OF IWK
On September 30, 2013, the Company completed its acquisition of 100% of the shares of IWK
Verpackungstechnik GmbH and OYSTAR IWK USA, Inc. (collectively “IWK”). IWK is a leader in
technology driven high performance tube filling and cartoning machinery for the pharmaceutical and
personal care industries, and is headquartered in Stutensee, Germany with locations in New Jersey,
U.S.A. and Bangkok, Thailand. IWK has been integrated with the Company’s existing ASG segment.
The IWK acquisition aligns with ATS’s strategy of scaling its leading position in the global automation
market and enhancing growth opportunities, particularly in strategic customer segments and with
technology leadership. It is expected to provide the Company with deep capabilities across several core
elements of the customer value chain and improve the Company’s position in the Life Sciences and
Consumer Products markets.
The total cash consideration for IWK was $147,312 (106,105 Euro). In addition, the Company incurred
$3,166 of transaction costs related to the acquisition which were recognized in selling, general and
administrative expenses.
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Cash used in investing activities is determined as follows:
Cash consideration
Less cash acquired

$
$

147,312
(9,904)
137,408

The purchase cost was allocated to the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon
the estimated fair value at the date of acquisition. The Company determined the fair values based on
discounted cash flows, market information, and using independent valuations and management’s best
estimates.
The allocation of the purchase price at fair value is as follows:
Purchase price allocation
Cash
Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets with a definite life
Technology
Customer relationships
Other
Intangible assets with an indefinite life
Brand
Current liabilities
Defined benefit pension obligation
Deferred income tax liability
Net identifiable assets
Residual purchase price allocated to goodwill

$

9,904
46,340
3,171
11,107
56,091
2,827

$

7,775
(38,075)
(11,133)
(20,099)
67,908
79,404
147,312

Non-cash working capital includes accounts receivable of $21,260, representing gross contractual
amounts receivable of $21,443 less management’s best estimate of the contractual cash flows not
expected to be collected of $183.
The primary factors that contributed to a residual purchase price that resulted in the recognition of
goodwill are: the existing IWK business; the acquired workforce; core capability in primary packaging
(tube fillers) and secondary packaging (cartoners); time-to-market benefits of acquiring an established
organization in key international markets such as Europe, Asia and the United States; and the combined
strategic value to the Company’s growth plan. Approximately $5,200 and $4,300 of the amounts
assigned to goodwill and intangibles respectively is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
During the three months ended March 31, 2014, changes to the purchase price allocation resulted in a
decrease in inventory of $112, a decrease in goodwill of $2,534, an increase in intangible assets of
$4,165, a decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $4,037, an increase in billings in excess
of costs and earnings on contracts in progress of $5,250 and an increase in deferred tax liabilities of
$306.
The cash consideration of the purchase price along with transaction costs were primarily funded with
existing cash on hand and proceeds from long-term debt of $40,000. This acquisition was accounted for
as a business combination with the Company as the acquirer of IWK. The purchase method of
accounting was used and the earnings have been consolidated from the acquisition date, September 30,
2013. IWK has contributed approximately $59,227 in revenue and $1,427 in net income to the fiscal 2014
results. If IWK had been acquired at the beginning of ATS’ fiscal year (April 1, 2013), the Company
estimates that revenues from continuing operations and net income from continuing operations of the
combined IWK and ATS entity for the year ended March 31, 2014 would have been approximately
$735,900 and $50,500 respectively.
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6. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
The Board of Directors of ATS have approved a plan designed to implement the separation of Solar from
ATS and the Company currently holds the related assets for sale. During the year ended March 31,
2014, the Company’s 50% owned joint operation, Ontario Solar PV Fields (“OSPV”), sold four groundmount solar projects. OSPV has retained 25% ownership of the projects until the projects reach
commercial operation, which is expected to occur in calendar 2014. Net proceeds to the Company are
expected to be $21.4 million, of which the Company has received net proceeds of $13.4 million during the
year ended March 31, 2014 and $0.5 million during the year ended March 31, 2013. The remaining
proceeds are expected to be received when the projects achieve commercial operation.
During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Company divested the Ontario Solar manufacturing assets
and inventory. Net proceeds to the Company were $6.5 million.
Subsequent to March 31, 2014, the Company sold the three remaining ground-mount solar projects.
OSPV has retained 25% ownership of the projects until the projects reach commercial operation, which is
expected to occur in early calendar 2015. Net proceeds to the Company are expected to be $14.6
million, of which the Company has received net proceeds of $12.0 million subsequent to the year ended
March 31, 2014. The remaining proceeds are expected to be received when the projects achieve
commercial operation.
Years ended
Revenues
Gain on Sale
Operating costs and expenses
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

March 31
2014
$
1,079
13,815
(2,088)
12,806

Net finance costs
Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes
Income tax recovery
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax

March 31
2013
$
3,698
––
29,827
(26,129)

4
12,802

15
(26,144)

––

(153)

$

12,802

$

(25,991)

$
$

0.14
0.14

$
$

(0.30)
(0.29)

Income (loss) per share
Basic - from discontinued operations
Diluted - from discontinued operations

Included in the year ended March 31, 2014 is a non-cash recovery of $3,000 related to the reversal of a
warranty provision which is no longer required.
Included in the loss from discontinued operations for the year ended March 31, 2013 was $4,855 of noncash charges related to the write-down of inventory to its net realizable value, following declines in
average market selling prices due to uncertainty in the Ontario market as a result of regulatory delays and
$15,125 of non-cash property, plant and equipment impairment charges to write down assets to their
expected recoverable amounts following the Company’s change of plans to pursue separate sales of the
manufacturing operations and the ground-mount solar projects.
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The major classes of asset and liabilities of Solar classified as associated with discontinued operations
are as follows:

As at
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Deposits and prepaid assets
Other assets
Assets associated with discontinued operations
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Provisions
Liabilities associated with discontinued operations
Net assets directly associated with disposal group

March 31
2014
$

$
$
$
$

March 31
2013

2,148
31
677
4,239
6,170
13,265

$

6,738
36
6,774
6,491

$

$

$
$

417
3,140
5,712
2,943
2,738
14,950
8,044
68
8,112
6,838

7. CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS AND INVENTORIES

As at
Contracts in progress:
Costs incurred
Estimated earnings
Progress billings

Disclosed as:
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on contracts in progress
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on contracts in progress

March 31
2014
$

870,970
258,694
1,129,664
(1,042,796)
$
86,868

$

$

$

$

As at
Inventories are summarized as follows:
Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

March 31
2013

146,231
(59,363)
86,868

695,084
106,296
801,380
(726,673)
$
74,707

$

March 31
2014
$

$

12,832
10,358
996
24,186

122,842
(48,135)
74,707
March 31
2013

$

$

5,935
4,651
83
10,669

The amount charged to net income and included in cost of revenues for the write-down of inventory for
valuation issues during the year ended March 31, 2014 was $390 (March 31, 2013 - $186). The amount
of inventories carried at net realizable value as at March 31, 2014 was $2,158 (March 31, 2013 - $37).
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8. DEPOSITS, PREPAIDS AND OTHER ASSETS
March 31
2014
$
5,071
813
2,941
796
9
$
9,630

As at
Prepaid assets
(i)
Restricted cash
Supplier deposits
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Other assets

March 31
2013
$
3,817
1,519
6,160
220
22
$
11,738

(i) Restricted cash primarily consists of cash collateralized to secure letters of credit
9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land
Cost:
Balance, at March 31, 2012
Additions
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2013
Additions
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2014

$

$

$

20,146
––
––
(108)
20,038
––
––
––
1,813
21,851

Land
Depreciation:
Balance, at March 31, 2012
Depreciation expense
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2013
Depreciation expense
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2014
Net book value:
At March 31, 2014
At March 31, 2013

Buildings and Production
leaseholds equipment
$

$

$

89,086
2,435
(899)
(191)
90,431
576
1,714
(1)
7,226
99,946

Buildings and Production
leaseholds equipment
$

$

––
––
––
––
––
––
––
––
––

$

(40,874)
(3,467)
810
157
(43,374)
(3,477)
––
(3,794)
(50,645)

$
$

21,851
20,038

$
$

49,301
47,057

$

$

$ 13,035
795
(441)
(178)
$ 13,211
696
62
(353)
1,811
$ 15,427

$

Other
equipment

Total

$ 24,232 $ 146,499
4,517
7,747
(3,458)
(4,798)
(250)
(727)
$ 25,041 $ 148,721
2,988
4,260
1,395
3,171
(1,614)
(1,968)
1,745
12,595
$ 29,555 $ 166,779
Other
equipment

Total

$ (10,151)
(964)
438
142
$ (10,535)
(825)
302
(1,439)
$ (12,497)

$ (16,594) $
(2,430)
3,450
31
$ (15,543) $
(2,943)
1,491
(1,230)
$ (18,225) $

$
$

$ 11,330
$ 9,498

2,930
2,676

$
$

(67,619)
(6,861)
4,698
330
(69,452)
(7,245)
1,793
(6,463)
(81,367)

85,412
79,269

Included in other equipment as at March 31, 2014 is $70 (March 31, 2013 - $10) of assets which are
under construction and have not been depreciated.
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10. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Opening
Foreign exchange adjustment
Balance, at March 31

$
$

2014
3,712
629
4,341

$
$

2013
3,792
(80)
3,712

The estimated fair value of the Company’s investment property at March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013
approximates its carrying value, based on comparable market data for similar properties. The investment
property is a plot of vacant land which does not earn any rental income nor incur any direct operating
expenses, including repairs and maintenance.
11. GOODWILL
The carrying amount of goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to a group
of CGUs which combine to form a single operating segment being Automation Systems Group, as
follows:

As at
Automation Systems Group

Balance at April 1
Acquisition – IWK
Foreign exchange
Balance at March 31

March 31
2014
$ 151,731

March 31
2013
$ 58,542

2014
58,542
79,404
13,785
151,731

$

2013
58,320

$

222
58,542

$

$

––

The Company performed the annual impairment test of goodwill as at March 31, 2014. The recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs is determined based on fair value less costs to sell using a capitalized
EBITDA approach. This approach requires management to estimate maintainable future EBITDA and
capitalize this amount by rates of return which incorporate the specific risks and opportunities facing the
business. EBITDA includes net income from continuing operations less income taxes, net finance
charges, depreciation and amortization.
In determining a maintainable future EBITDA, the historical operating results for the five years ended
March 31, 2014 were compared to the budgeted results for the year ending March 31, 2015, as presented
to and approved by the Board of Directors. Non-recurring and unusual items have been adjusted in order
to normalize past EBITDA. Management selected capitalization rates in the range of 6.3% to 11.1% for
the calculation of the reasonable range of capitalized EBITDA. As a result of the analysis, management
did not identify impairment for this group of CGUs.
Management believes that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs.
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Development
projects
Cost:
Balance, at March 31, 2012
Additions
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2013
Additions
Disposals
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Exchange and other adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2014

$ 2,959
803
––
33
$ 3,795
3,260
––
––
63
$ 7,118

Development
projects

Computer
software,
licenses
Customer
and other Technology relationships
$ 15,574
3,947
(1,707)
(102)
$ 17,712
3,583
(186)
2,827
1,511
$ 25,447

$ 9,814
––
––
(144)
$ 9,670
––
––
11,107
2,585
$ 23,362

Brands

$ 15,142 $ 4,538
––
––
––
––
(198)
(125)
$ 14,944 $ 4,413
––
––
––
––
56,091
7,775
7,666
1,504
$ 78,701 $ 13,692

Computer
software,
licenses
Customer
and other Technology relationships

Brands

Amortization:
Balance, at March 31, 2012
Amortization
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2013
Amortization
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2014

$ (2,732)
(402)
––
––
$ (3,134)
(249)
––
(15)
$ (3,398)

$ (10,171)
(1,276)
1,707
78
$ (9,662)
(2,963)
180
(1,077)
$ (13,522)

$ (1,981)
(1,086)
––
27
$ (3,040)
(1,839)
––
(590)
$ (5,469)

$

Net book value:
At March 31, 2014
At March 31, 2013

$ 3,720
$
661

$ 11,925
$ 8,050

$ 17,893
$ 6,630

$ 64,068 $ 13,692
$ 7,861 $ 4,413

(4,502) $
(2,612)
––
31
$ (7,083) $
(6,159)
––
(1,391)
$ (14,633) $

––
––
––
––
––
––
––
––
––

Total
$ 48,027
4,750
(1,707)
(536)
$ 50,534
6,843
(186)
77,800
13,329
$ 148,320

Total
$ (19,386)
(5,376)
1,707
136
$ (22,919)
(11,210)
180
(3,073)
$ (37,022)

$ 111,298
$ 27,615

Included in development projects and in computer software, licenses and other intangibles as at March
31, 2014 is $1,719 and $4,663 respectively (March 31, 2013 - $1,072 and $3,554 respectively) of
intangible assets which are in development and have not been depreciated. Research and development
costs that are not eligible for capitalization have been expensed and are recognized in cost of revenues.
The Company performed the annual impairment test of indefinite lived intangible assets as at March 31,
2014. The intangible assets acquired during the year ended March 31, 2014 related to IWK were
recorded at fair value based on discounted cash flows, market information, and using independent
valuations and management’s best estimates. The recoverable amount of the previously acquired
intangible assets was estimated based on a value in use calculation using the present value of the future
cash flows expected to be derived by the related subsidiaries. This approach requires management to
estimate cash flows which include EBIT from continuing operations less income taxes, depreciation and
amortization and capital expenditures.
In determining future cash flows, the budgeted results for the year ending March 31, 2015, as presented
to and approved by the Board of Directors were extrapolated for a five-year period. Management used
discount rates in the range of 12% to 20% to determine the present value of the future cash flows. As a
result of the analysis, management did not identify an impairment of the intangible assets and any
reasonable change in assumptions would not result in an impairment.
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13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(i) Categories of financial assets and liabilities:
The carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments are classified into the following categories:
As at

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable
Bank indebtedness
Trade accounts payable
and accrued liabilities
Long-term debt
Derivatives classified as held
(i)
for trading – gain
Derivatives designated as
(i)
cash flow hedges – loss

March 31, 2014
Fair value
through
profit loss
$
––
––
––

Loans,
borrowings,
Cash flow
and
hedges receivables
$
––
$ 76,466
––
104,678
––
(913)

AvailableOther
for-sale liabilities
$
–– $
––
––
––
––
––

––
––

––
––

––
––

–– (121,306)
––
(5,139)

535

––

––

––

––

535

––

(862)

––

––

––

(862)

As at

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable
Portfolio investments
Trade accounts payable
and accrued liabilities
Long-term debt
Derivatives classified as held
(i)
for trading – loss
Derivatives designated as
(i)
cash flow hedges – loss
(i)

Total
carrying
value
$ 76,466
104,678
(913)
(121,306)
(5,139)

March 31, 2013
Fair value
through
profit loss
$
––
––
––

Cash flow Loans and
hedges receivables
$
––
$105,453
––
85,587
––
––

AvailableOther
for-sale liabilities
$
–– $
––
––
––
4,969
––

Total
carrying
value
$ 105,453
85,587
4,969

––
––

––
––

––
––

––
––

(354)

––

––

––

––

(354)

––

(464)

––

––

––

(464)

(89,562)
(1,175)

(89,562)
(1,175)

Derivative financial instruments in a gain position are included in deposits and prepaid assets on the
consolidated statements of financial position and derivative financial instruments in a loss position are included in
accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

(ii) Fair value measurements:
The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value
on a recurring basis as at March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013 and indicates the fair value hierarchy of
the valuation techniques used to determine such fair value:
As at
Carrying
Value
Measured at fair value:
Derivatives classified as held for trading
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Investment property
Disclosed at fair value:
Bank indebtedness
Long-term debt

$

535
(862)
4,341
(913)
(5,139)

Level 1
$

––
––
––
––
––

Level 2
$

535
(862)
––
(913)
(5,139)

Level 3
$

––
––
4,341
––
––

March 31
2014
Fair Value
Total
$

535
(862)
4,341
(913)
(5,139)
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As at
Carrying
Value
Measured at fair value:
Derivatives classified as held for trading
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Portfolio investment
Investment property
Disclosed at fair value:
Long-term debt

$

(354)
(464)
4,969
3,712
(1,175)

Level 1
$

––
––
4,969
––
––

Level 2
$ (354)
(464)
––
––
(1,175)

Level 3
$

––
––
––
3,712
––

March 31
2013
Fair Value
Total
$

(354)
(464)
4,969
3,712
(1,175)

The estimated fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, bank indebtedness,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their respective carrying values due to the short
period to maturity. The estimated fair value of long-term debt approximates the carrying value due to
interest rates approximating current market values. Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair
value determined by reference to quoted bid or asking prices, as appropriate, in active markets at periodend dates. The derivative contract counterparties are highly rated multinational financial institutions.
During the year ended March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013, there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2 fair value measurements.
Derivative financial instruments
The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts to manage foreign currency exposure. Forward
foreign exchange contracts that are not designated in hedging relationships are classified as held-fortrading, with changes in fair value recognized in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statements of income. During the year ended March 31, 2014, the fair value of derivative
financial assets classified as held-for-trading and included in deposits, prepaid and other assets
increased by $564 (increased by $13 year ended March 31, 2013) and the fair value of derivative
financial liabilities classified as held-for-trading and included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
decreased by $325 during the year ended March 31, 2014 (decreased by $90 during the year ended
March 31, 2013).
Cash flow hedges
During the year ended March 31, 2014 there was no unrealized gain or loss recognized in selling, general
and administrative expenses for the ineffective portion of cash flow hedges (unrealized gain of $nil during
the year ended March 31, 2013). After-tax unrealized gains of $646 and after-tax unrealized loss of $nil
are included in accumulated other comprehensive income at March 31, 2014 and are expected to be
reclassified to income over the next 12 months when the revenue and purchases are recorded
(unrealized gains of $339 and unrealized losses of $nil at March 31, 2013).
The following table summarizes the Company’s commitments to buy and sell foreign currencies under
forward foreign exchange contracts as at March 31, 2014:

31

ATS AUTOMATION TOOLING SYSTEMS INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

Currency sold
U.S. dollars
U.S. dollars
U.S. dollars
U.S. dollars
Euros
Euros
Euros
Euros
Canadian dollars
Canadian dollars
Canadian dollars
Canadian dollars
Canadian dollars
Swiss francs
Great British pounds

Currency bought
Canadian dollars
Euros
Singapore dollars
Malaysian ringgits
Swiss francs
Canadian dollars
U.S. dollars
Singapore dollars
Euros
Swedish krona
Singapore dollars
U.S. dollars
Great British pounds
Canadian dollars
Canadian dollars

Notional
amount sold
53,775
1,714
700
1,773
1,000
29,034
556
55
12,215
2,059
1,013
11,454
377
656
363

Weighted
average rate
1.0933
0.7272
1.2642
3.2661
1.2225
1.5416
1.3662
1.7551
0.6557
5.8458
1.1850
0.9008
0.5495
1.2470
1.8434

(iii) Risks arising from financial instruments and risk management
The Company is exposed to financial risks that may potentially impact its operating results including
market risks (foreign exchange rate, interest rate and other market price risks), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. The
Company uses derivative financial instruments to mitigate exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates. The Company does not enter into derivative financial agreements for speculative purposes.
Currency risk
The Company transacts business in multiple currencies, the most significant of which are the Canadian
dollar, the U.S. dollar and the Euro. As a result, the Company has foreign currency exposure with respect
to items denominated in foreign currencies. The types of foreign exchange risk can be categorized as
follows:
Translation exposure
Assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the
statement of financial position dates. Unrealized translation gains and losses are deferred and included
in accumulated other comprehensive income. The cumulative currency translation adjustments are
recognized in income when there has been a reduction in the net investment in the foreign operations.
Foreign currency based earnings are translated into Canadian dollars each period at prevailing rates. As
a result, fluctuations in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to these other currencies will impact
reported net income. Foreign currency risks arising from the translation of assets and liabilities of foreign
operations into the Company’s functional currency are generally not hedged; however, the Company may
decide to hedge this risk under certain circumstances. The Company has assessed the net foreign
currency exposure of operations relative to their own functional currency. A fluctuation of +/- 5% in the
Euro and U.S. dollar, provided as an indicative range in a volatile currency environment, would,
everything else being equal, have an effect on accumulated other comprehensive income for the year
ended
March 31, 2014 of approximately +/- $12,046 and $9,914 respectively (2013 +/- $6,291 and
$10,328) and on income from continuing operations before income taxes for the year ended March 31,
2014 of approximately +/- $28 and $1,030 respectively (2013 +/- $140 and $1,161).
Transaction exposure
The Company generates significant revenues in foreign currencies, primarily U.S. dollars, which exceed
the natural hedge provided by purchases of goods and services in those currencies. In order to manage
this net foreign currency exposure in subsidiaries which do not have the U.S. dollar as the functional
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currency, the Company enters into forward foreign exchange contracts. The timing and amount of these
forward foreign exchange contracts are estimated based on existing customer contracts on hand or
anticipated, current conditions in the Company’s markets and the Company’s past experience. As such,
there is not a material transaction exposure.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the
Company to credit risk consist of accounts receivable and derivative financial instruments. The carrying
values of these assets represent management’s assessment of the associated maximum exposure to
such credit risk. Substantially all of the Company’s trade accounts receivable are due from customers in
a variety of industries and, as such, are subject to normal credit risks from their respective industries. The
Company regularly monitors customers for changes in credit risk. The Company does not believe that
any single industry or geographic region represents significant credit risk. Credit risk concentration with
respect to trade receivables is mitigated by the Company’s client base being primarily large, multinational
customers and through insurance purchased by the Company.
Trade receivables – aged by due date as at
Current
1 – 30 days
31 – 60 days
61 – 90 days
Over 90 days
Total

March 31
2014
$
80,729
9,894
3,954
1,293
12,593
$ 108,463

March 31
2013
$
66,048
7,714
4,384
305
10,541
$
88,992

The movement in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended March 31 was as
follows:

Balance at April 1
Provisions and revisions
Foreign exchange
Balance at March 31

$

$

2014
3,405
512
(132)
3,785

$

$

2013
4,665
(1,246)
(14)
3,405

The Company minimizes credit risk associated with derivative financial instruments by only entering into
derivative transactions with highly rated multinational financial institutions, in order to reduce the risk of
counterparty default.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated
with financial liabilities. As at March 31, 2014, the Company was holding cash and cash equivalents of
$76,466 (March 31, 2013 - $105,453) and had unutilized lines of credit of $179,253 (March 31, 2013 $199,426). During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company established a new Senior Secured
Credit Facility (the “Credit Agreement”) as described in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Company expects that continued cash flows from operations in fiscal 2015, together with cash and
cash equivalents on hand and available credit facilities, will be more than sufficient to fund its
requirements for investments in working capital, property, plant and equipment and strategic investments
including some potential acquisitions, and that the Company’s credit ratings provide reasonable access to
capital markets to facilitate future debt issuance.
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The Company’s accounts payable primarily have contractual maturities of less than 90 days and the
contractual cash flows equal their carrying value. The Company’s long-term debt obligations and
scheduled interest payments are presented in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
Interest rate risk
In relation to its debt financing, the Company is exposed to changes in interest rates, which may impact
the Company’s borrowing costs. Floating rate debt exposes the Company to fluctuations in short-term
interest rates. As at March 31, 2014, $3,592 or 70% (March 31, 2013 – $121 or 10%) of the Company’s
total debt is subject to movements in floating interest rates. A +/- 1% change in interest rates in effect for
the fiscal year would, all things being equal, have an impact of +/- $36 on income from operations before
income taxes for the year ended March 31, 2014 (March 31, 2013 – $1).
14. PROVISIONS
Balance, at March 31, 2012
Provisions made
Provisions reversed
Provisions used
Exchange adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2013
Provisions made
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Provisions reversed
Provisions used
Exchange adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2014

Warranty Restructuring
8,155
$
530
4,990
––
(3,205)
(299)
(1,800)
(110)
12
(4)
$
8,152
$
117
5,080
6,118
1,297
106
(5,170)
––
(3,106)
(4,652)
579
46
$
6,832
$ 1,735
$

$

$

$

Other
1,011 $
4,561
(213)
(4,527)
(5)
827 $
7,070
––
––
(6,099)
47
1,845 $

Total
9,696
9,551
(3,717)
(6,437)
3
9,096
18,268
1,403
(5,170)
(13,857)
672
10,412

Warranty provisions
Warranty provisions are related to sales of products and are based on experience reflecting statistical
trends of warranty costs.
Restructuring
Restructuring charges are recognized in the period incurred and when the criteria for provisions are
fulfilled. Termination benefits are recognized as a liability and an expense when the Company is
demonstrably committed through a formal restructuring plan.
15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The Company operates pension plans for certain of its employees through defined contribution plans and
defined benefit plans. The costs associated with defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred.
The most recent actuarial valuations of the defined benefit plans were completed as at March 31, 2014.
The next valuations are scheduled to be as at March 31, 2015. The changes in the fair value of assets,
the employee benefit obligation, and the funded status were:
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March 31
2014

March 31
2013

As at
Accrued benefit obligations:
Opening balance
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Interest cost
Service cost
Assumption changes
Contributions
Transfers and benefits paid
Insurance premiums
Foreign exchange
Accrued benefit obligations, ending balance

$ 21,116 $
11,110
760
1,008
(618)
336
(3,623)
(208)
3,490
$ 33,371 $

14,716
––
550
1,305
3,753
322
991
(203)
(318)
21,116

Plan assets:
Opening balance
Interest income included in net interest expense
Net actuarial loss
Company contributions
Employee contributions
Transfers and benefits paid
Insurance premiums
Foreign exchange
Plan assets, ending balance
Employee benefits liability

$ 10,535 $
256
276
664
336
(3,246)
(208)
1,545
$ 10,158 $
$ 23,213 $

8,376
268
322
619
322
1,067
(203)
(236)
10,535
10,581

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (before tax) were:
As at
Total actuarial gains (losses)
Return on plan assets
Amounts recognized in OCI

$
$

2014
618
276
894

$
$

2013
(3,719)
322
(3,397)

The significant weighted average annual actuarial assumptions used in measuring the accrued benefit
obligation were:
March 31
March 31
2014
2013
Discount Rate
3.4%
3.1%
Expected rate of return on plan assets
1.8%
1.6%
Rate of compensation increase
2.5%
2.3%
The weighted average allocations of plan assets were:

Equity securities
Debt securities
Real Estate
Other

March 31
2014
11.0%
41.2%
22.9%
24.9%

March 31
2013
––
44.1%
23.2%
32.7%

The fair values of equity securities and debt securities plan assets are determined based on generally
quoted market prices in active markets. The fair value of real estate plan assets are valued based on
appraisals performed by a qualified external real estate appraiser.
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No plan assets were directly invested in the Company’s securities.
The net employee benefits expense included the following components:

Years ended
Defined benefit plans
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Defined contribution plans
Net employee benefits expense

March 31
2014
$

$

1,008 $
760
(171)
1,597
2,302
3,899 $

March 31
2013
1,333
572
(198)
1,707
2,224
3,931

The Company expects to contribute $700 to its defined benefit plans during the year ended March 31,
2014.
The cumulative actuarial losses, net of income taxes, recognized as other comprehensive income as at
March 31, 2014 was $4,457 (March 31, 2013 - $3,534).
16. BANK INDEBTEDNESS AND LONG-TERM DEBT
During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company established a new Senior Secured Credit Facility
(the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement provides a committed revolving credit facility of
$250,000 and expires on November 6, 2015. The Credit Agreement is secured by the assets, excluding
real estate, of certain of the Company’s North American legal entities and a pledge of shares and
guarantees from certain of the Company’s legal entities. At March 31, 2014, the Company had utilized
$72,633 under the Credit Agreement, which was obtained by way of letters of credit (March 31, 2013 $53,103).
The Credit Agreement is available in Canadian dollars by way of prime rate advances, letters of credit for
certain purposes and/or bankers’ acceptances and in U.S. dollars by way of base rate advances and/or
LIBOR advances. The interest rates applicable to the Credit Agreement are determined based on a debt
to EBITDA ratio. For prime rate advances and base rate advances, the interest rate is equal to the bank’s
prime rate or the bank’s U.S. dollar base rate in Canada, respectively, plus 0.50% to 1.50%. For bankers’
acceptances and LIBOR advances, the interest rate is equal to the bankers’ acceptance fee or the
LIBOR, respectively, plus 1.50% to 2.50%. The Company pays a fee for usage of financial letters of
credit which ranges from 1.70% to 2.70% and a fee for usage of non-financial letters of credit which
ranges from 1.15% to 1.80%. The Company pays a standby fee on the unadvanced portions of the
amounts available for advance or draw-down under the Credit Agreement at rates ranging from 0.30% to
0.50%.
The Credit Agreement is subject to a debt to EBITDA test and an interest coverage test. Under the terms
of the Credit Agreement, the Company is restricted from encumbering any assets with certain permitted
exceptions. The Credit Agreement also limits advances to subsidiaries and partially restricts the
Company from repurchasing its common shares and paying dividends.
The Company has additional credit facilities available of $8,977 (2,396 Euro, 200,000 Indian Rupees, 500
Swiss Francs and 30,000 Thai Baht). The total amount outstanding on these facilities is $6,687, of which
$913 is classified as bank indebtedness (March 31, 2013 - $nil) and $5,774 is classified as long-term debt
(March 31, 2013 – $2,214). The interest rates applicable to the credit facilities range from 1.85% to
11.00% per annum. A portion of the long-term debt is secured by certain assets of the Company. The
500 Swiss Francs and 200,000 Indian Rupees credit facilities are secured by letters of credit under the
Credit Agreement.
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(i) Bank indebtedness
As at
Other facilities

March 31
2014
$
913

March 31
2013
$
––

March 31
2014
$ 5,774
(635)
5,139
3,815
$ 1,324

March 31
2013
$ 2,214
(1,039)
1,175
257
$
918

(ii) Long-term debt
As at
Other facilities
Issuance costs
Less: current portion

Scheduled principal repayments and interest payments on long-term debt from continuing operations as
at March 31, 2014 are as follows:

Less than one year
One - two years
Two - three years
Three - four years
Four - five years
Thereafter

Principal
3,815
328
292
300
315
724
$ 5,774
$

Interest
98
97
84
80
71
86
$
516
$

17. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares, without par value,
for unlimited consideration. The changes in the common shares issued and outstanding during the
periods presented were as follows:

Balance, at March 31, 2012
Exercise of stock options
Balance, at March 31, 2013
Exercise of stock options
Balance, at March 31, 2014

Number of
common shares
87,439,755
411,538
87,851,293
2,942,254
90,793,547

Share
capital
$ 483,099
3,635
$ 486,734
23,991
$ 510,725
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18. TAXATION
(i) Reconciliation of income taxes: Income tax expense differs from the amounts which would be
obtained by applying the combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate to earnings
before income taxes and non-controlling interest. These differences result from the following items:
March 31
2014

Years ended
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and
non-controlling interest
Combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate
Income tax expense based on combined Canadian basic federal and
provincial income tax rate
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
Adjustments in respect to current income tax of previous periods
Non-taxable income (loss) net of non-deductible expenses
Recognition/use of previously unrecognized assets
Income taxed at different rates and statutory rate changes
Manufacturing and processing allowance and all other items
At the effective income tax rate of 15% (2013 – 25%)

$ 58,017
26.50%

$

54,632
26.50%

$ 15,375

$

14,477

$

(96)
(2,647)
––
2,161
(337)
13,558

$

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated statements of income:
Current tax expense
Deferred tax expense

Deferred tax related to items charged or credited directly to equity:
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of cash flow hedges
Other items recognized through equity
Income tax charged directly to equity

March 31
2013

(444)
795
(8,767)
2,033
(392)
8,600

$ 10,667
(2,067)
$ 8,600

$

$

$

$

90
111
201

$

$

10,895
2,663
13,558

(140)
(105)
(245)

(ii) Components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities: Deferred income taxes are provided
for the differences between accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax
assets and liabilities are comprised of the following:

As at
Accounting income not currently taxable
Investment tax credits taxable in future years when utilized
Loss available for offset against future taxable income
Property, plant and equipment
Scientific research and experimental development
expenditures available for offset against future taxable income
Other
Net deferred income tax asset (liability)

Presented as:
Deferred income tax asset
Deferred income tax liability
Net deferred income tax asset (liability)

March 31
2014
$ (25,799)
(7,074)
9,360
2,758

$

22,902
(11,056)
(8,909)

March 31
2014
$
7,838
(16,747)
$
(8,909)

March 31
2013
$ (11,408)
(6,212)
554
1,119
21,478
5,846
$ 11,377
March 31
2013
$ 13,154
(1,777)
$ 11,377
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(iii) Unrecognized deferred income tax assets: Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in
respect of the following items (gross amount):

As at
Deductible temporary differences
Loss available for offset against future taxable income

March 31
2014
$ 1,360
56,477
$ 57,837

March 31
2013
$
690
69,867
$ 70,557

Loss carryforwards: As at March 31, 2014, the Company has the following net operating loss
carryforwards which are scheduled to expire in the following years:
Year of expiry
2015 - 2019
2020 - 2024
2025 - 2029
2030 - 2034
No expiry

Non-Canadian
$ 3,036
6,695
5,315
858
39,214
$ 55,117

Canadian
$
1,059
––
6,273
40,195
––
$ 47,527

In addition, the Company has USA Federal and State capital loss carryforwards of US$13,456 (March 31,
2013 – US$13,456) and Canadian capital loss carryforwards of $268,345 (March 31, 2013 – $293,337)
which do not expire.
Investment Tax Credits: As at March 31, 2014, the Company has investment tax credits (“ITC”)
available to be applied against future taxes payable in Canada of approximately $42,422 and in foreign
jurisdictions of approximately $1,866. The investment tax credits are scheduled to expire as follows:
Year of expiry
2015 - 2019
2020 - 2024
2025 - 2029
2030 - 2034
No expiry

Gross ITC balance
$
998
688
25,157
17,265
180
$
44,288

The benefit of $30,165 (March 31, 2013 – $27,699) of these investment tax credits have been recognized
in the consolidated financial statements. Unrecognized investment tax credits are scheduled to expire
between 2028 and 2030.
(iv) The Company has determined that as of the reporting date, undistributed profits of its subsidiaries will
not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
(v) There are temporary differences of $4,868 associated with investments in subsidiaries for which no
deferred tax liability has been recognized.
(vi) There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of dividends in either 2014 or 2013
by the Company to its shareholders.
19. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
Employee Share Purchase Plan: Under the terms of the Company’s Employee Share Purchase Plan,
qualifying employees of the Company may set aside funds through payroll deductions for an amount up
to a maximum of 10% of their base salary or $10,000 in any one calendar year. Subject to the member
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not making withdrawals from the plan, the Company makes contributions to the plan equal to 20% of a
member’s contribution to the plan during the year, up to a maximum of 1% of the member’s salary or
$2,000. Shares for the plan may be issued from treasury or purchased in the market as determined by
the Company’s Board of Directors. During the years ended March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013, no
shares were issued from treasury related to the plan.
Deferred Stock Unit Plan: The Company offers a Deferred Stock Unit Plan ("DSU Plan") for members of
the Board of Directors. Under the DSU Plan, each non-employee director may elect to receive his or her
annual compensation in the form of notional common shares of the Company called deferred stock units
("DSUs"). The issue and redemption prices of each DSU are based on an average trading price of the
Company’s common shares for the five trading days prior to issuance or redemption. Under the terms of
the DSU Plan, directors are not entitled to convert DSUs into cash until retirement from the Board of
Directors. The value of each DSU, when converted to cash, will be equal to the market value of a
common share of the Company at the time the conversion takes place. At March 31, 2014, the value of
the outstanding liability related to the DSUs was $5,425 (2013 – $3,099). The DSU liability is revalued at
each reporting date based on the change in the Company’s stock price. The change in the value of the
DSU liability is included in the consolidated statements of income in the period of the change.
Stock Option Plan: The Company uses a stock option plan to attract and retain key employees, officers
and directors. Under the Company’s 1995 Stock Option plan (the “1995 Plan”), the shareholders have
approved a maximum of 5,991,839 common shares for issuance, with the maximum reserved for issuance
to any one person at 5% of the common shares outstanding at the time of the grant. Time vested stock
options vest over four year periods. Performance-based stock options vest based on the Company’s
stock trading at or above a threshold for a specified number of minimum trading days in a fiscal quarter.
For time vested stock options, the exercise price is the price of the Company’s common shares on the
Toronto Stock Exchange at closing for the day prior to the date of the grant. For performance-based stock
options the exercise price is either the price of the Company’s common shares on the Toronto Stock
Exchange at closing for the day prior to the date of the grant or the five-day volume weighted average
price of the Company’s common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange prior to the date of the grant.
Stock options granted under the 1995 Plan may be exercised during periods not exceeding seven years
from the date of grant, subject to earlier termination upon the option holder ceasing to be a director, officer
or employee of the Company. Stock options issued under the 1995 Plan are non-transferable. Any stock
option granted which is cancelled or terminated for any reason prior to exercise is returned to the pool and
becomes available for future stock option grants. In the event that the stock option would otherwise expire
th
during a restricted trading period, the expiry date of the stock option is extended to the 10 business day
following the date of expiry of such period. In addition, the 1995 Plan restricts the grant of stock options to
insiders that may be under the 1995 Plan.
Under the Company’s 2006 Stock Option plan (the “2006 Plan”), the shareholders have approved a
maximum of 2,159,000 common shares for issuance. The terms of the 2006 Plan are identical to those of
the 1995 plan, except that the maximum number of common shares to be issued pursuant to the issue of
options under the 2006 Plan is 2,159,000 common shares.
As at March 31, 2014, there are a total of 877,474 (March 31, 2013 – 1,229,762) common shares
remaining for future stock option grants under both plans.
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Years ended March 31

Stock options outstanding, beginning of period
Granted
(i)
Exercised
Forfeited/cancelled
Stock options outstanding, end of period
Stock options exercisable,
end of period, time vested options
Stock options exercisable,
end of period, performance based options

2014
Weighted
average
exercise
price
$
7.39
11.50
5.99
8.61
$
8.81

2013
Weighted
Number of
average
stock
exercise
options
price
7,391,080 $
7.38
690,000
8.92
(411,538)
6.13
(657,700)
9.72
7,011,842 $
7.39

1,145,210

$

6.88

1,465,193

$

6.66

1,964,416

$

9.49

2,166,935

$

6.75

Number of
stock
options
7,011,842
596,000
(2,942,254)
(243,712)
4,421,876

(i) For the year ended March 31, 2014, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was
$13.41 (March 31, 2012 – $9.24).
As at March 31, 2014

Range of
Exercise prices
$3.49 to 6.92
$6.93 to 8.62
$8.63 to 10.51
$10.52 to 13.58
$3.49 to 13.58

Number
outstanding
963,500
1,304,250
822,334
1,331,792
4,421,876

Stock options outstanding
Weighted
average
Weighted
remaining
average
contractual
exercise
life
price
3.48 years
$
6.40
3.50 years
7.90
5.34 years
9.30
6.46 years
11.23
4.73 years
$
8.81

Stock options exercisable

Number
exercisable
692,500
1,232,000
423,334
761,792
3,109,626

Weighted
average
exercise
price
$
6.25
7.95
9.53
11.00
$
8.53

The expense associated with the Company’s performance-based stock options is recognized in income
over the estimated assumed vesting period at the time the stock options are granted. Upon the
Company’s stock price trading at or above a stock price performance threshold for a specified minimum
number of trading days, the options vest. When the performance-based stock options vest, the Company
is required to recognize all previously unrecognized expenses associated with the vested stock options in
the period in which they vest.
The fair values of the Company’s stock options issued during the periods presented were estimated at the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average
assumptions. Expected stock price volatility was determined at the time of the grant by considering
historical share price volatility. Expected stock option grant life was determined at the time of the grant by
considering the average of the grant vesting period and the grant exercise period.
Years ended March 31
Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Weighted average expected volatility
Weighted average expected life
Number of stock options granted:
Time vested
Weighted average exercise price per option
Weighted average value per option:
Time vested

2014
1.51%
0%
42%
4.75 years

2013
1.59%
0%
52%
4.75 years

$

596,000
11.50

$

690,000
8.92

$

4.33

$

3.99
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Share Appreciation Rights
During the year ended March 31, 2014 the Company granted 500,000 share appreciation rights (“SARs”)
(172,500 in the year ended March 31, 2013). The SARs give the employee the right to receive a cash
payment equal to the excess of the market value of a common share of the Company at the time of
exercise over the exercise price of the rights. The SARs granted during the year ended March 31, 2014
vest over eighteen months. The SARs vest upon successful achievement of certain non-market
performance criteria and expire twenty-one months from the date of issue. The Company’s vested SARs
are measured at each reporting date at their fair value.
The fair values of the Company’s unvested SARs are measured at each reporting date using the BlackScholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions. Expected stock price
volatility was determined by considering historical share price volatility. The expected SARs grant life was
determined by considering the average of the estimated grant vesting period and the grant expected life.
Year ended March 31
Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Weighted average expected volatility
Weighted average expected life
Weighted average exercise price per SAR
Weighted average value per SAR

2014
1.08%
0%
27%
1.37 years
$
$

9.93
4.76

2013
1.32%
0%
43%
4.24 years
$
$

8.87
3.98

The Company has recorded a liability of $1,763 as at March 31, 2014 (March 31, 2013 - $206) based on
the SARs fair value which includes both time based and performance based SARs. The market value of a
common share of the Company as at March 31, 2014 was $14.35 (March 31, 2013 - $9.90). During the
year ended March 31, 2014 43,125 SARs vested (nil in the year ended March 31, 2013).
Restricted Share Unit Plan
During the year ended March 31, 2014 the Company granted 138,448 time vesting restricted share units
(“RSUs”) (nil in the year ended March 31, 2013). The RSUs give the employee the right to receive a cash
payment equal to the market value of a common share of the Company. During the year ended March
31, 2014 the Company granted 86,000 performance-based RSUs (nil in the year ended March 31, 2013).
The performance-based RSUs vest upon successful achievement of certain operational and share price
targets. The performance-based RSUs give the employee the right to receive a cash payment based on
the market value of a common share of the Company. The weighted average remaining vesting period
for the time vesting RSUs and performance-based RSUs are 1.2 years and 1.4 years respectively. The
RSUs liability is recognized quarterly based on the expired portion of the vesting period and the change in
the Company’s stock price. At March 31, 2014, the value of the outstanding liability related to the RSU
plan was $1,148 (March 31, 2013 - $nil).
20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The minimum operating lease payments, related primarily to facilities and equipment, and purchase
obligations are as follows:
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From continuing operations:

Less than one year
One – two years
Two – three years
Three – four years
Four – five years
Due in over five years

Operating
leases
$
6,293
5,113
4,460
2,326
1,764
3,777
$ 23,733

Purchase
obligations
$ 59,277
835
––
––
––
––
$ 60,112

The Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements consist of purchase obligations and various operating
lease financing arrangements related primarily to facilities and equipment which have been entered into in
the normal course of business.
The Company’s purchase obligations consist primarily of raw materials purchase commitments.
In accordance with industry practice, the Company is liable to customers for obligations relating to
contract completion and timely delivery. In the normal conduct of its operations, the Company may
provide bank guarantees as security for advances received from customers pending delivery and contract
performance. In addition, the Company provides bank guarantees for post-retirement obligations and
may provide bank guarantees as security on equipment under lease and on order. At March 31, 2014,
the total value of outstanding bank guarantees under credit facilities was approximately $95,250 (March
31, 2013 - $68,319) from continuing operations and was $2,125 (March 31, 2013 - $3,700) from
discontinued operations.
In the normal course of operations, the Company is party to a number of lawsuits, claims and
contingencies. Although it is possible that liabilities may be incurred in instances for which no accruals
have been made, the Company does not believe that the ultimate outcome of these matters will have a
material impact on its consolidated financial position.
21. SEGMENTED DISCLOSURE
Solar is currently classified as assets and liabilities associated with discontinued operations in the
consolidated statements of financial position and as discontinued operations in the consolidated
statements of income. As a result, the Company’s continuing operations are reported as one operating
segment, ASG.
Geographic segmentation of revenues is determined based on the customer’s installation site. Noncurrent assets represent property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that are attributable to
individual geographic segments, based on location of the respective operations.
As at

Canada
United States
Germany
Other Europe
Asia – Pacific and other
Total Company

Property, plant
and equipment
$
31,016
21,483
22,863
6,380
3,670
$
85,412

March 31, 2014
Intangible
assets
$
9,774
6,140
94,899
119
366
$ 111,298
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As at

Canada
United States
Germany
Other Europe
Asia – Pacific and other
Total Company
Revenues from external customers for the years ended March 31
Canada
United States and Mexico
Germany
Other Europe
Asia – Pacific and other
Total Company

Property, plant
and equipment
$
32,651
20,291
17,172
5,726
3,429
$
79,269

$

$

March 31, 2013
Intangible
assets
$
7,194
2,299
17,911
94
117
$
27,615

2014
34,753
293,650
106,034
86,364
162,560
683,361

$

$

2013
14,233
248,270
80,472
99,821
148,302
591,098

For the years ended March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013, the Company did not have revenues from any
single customer which amounted to 10% or more of total consolidated revenues.
22. INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATIONS
During the year ended March 31, 2010, Ontario Solar entered into an agreement to establish Ontario
Solar PV Fields Inc., a joint operation. Ontario Solar PV Fields Inc. is a joint arrangement with both
parties involved having joint control with rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to
the arrangement and accordingly, the Company recognizes its 50% share of assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses in the consolidated financial statements. Ontario Solar PV Fields Inc. is currently
presented as assets and liabilities associated with discontinued operations in the consolidated statements
of financial position and as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income.
The following is a summary of the Company’s share of the joint operation:

As at
Current assets
Current liabilities
Net assets
Years ended March 31
Net income (loss)

March 31
2014
$
7,394
(6,479)
$
915

$

2014
9,874

March 31
2013
$
7,395
(2,666)
$
4,729

$

2013
(265)

23. NET FINANCE COSTS

Years ended
Interest expense
Interest income

March 31
2014
$
3,248
(232)
$
3,016

March 31
2013
$
2,232
(219)
$
2,013
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24. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Years ended
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Dilutive effect of stock option conversion
Diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding

March 31
2014
88,932,165
1,151,962
90,084,127

March 31
2013
87,577,078
1,205,933
88,783,011

For the year ended March 31, 2014, stock options to purchase 670,000 common shares are excluded
from the weighted average number of common shares in the calculation of diluted earnings per share as
they are anti-dilutive (2,741,572 common shares were excluded for the year ended March 31, 2013).
25. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT:
The Company’s capital management framework is designed to ensure the Company has adequate
liquidity, financial resources and borrowing capacity to allow financial flexibility and to provide an
adequate return to shareholders. The Company defines capital as the aggregate of equity (excluding
accumulated other comprehensive income), bank indebtedness, long-term debt and cash and cash
equivalents.
The Company monitors capital using the ratio of total debt to equity. Total debt includes bank
indebtedness, and long-term debt as shown on the consolidated statements of financial position. Net
debt consists of cash and cash equivalents less total debt. Equity includes all components of equity, less
accumulated other comprehensive income. This is unchanged from the previous year. The Company
also monitors an externally imposed covenant of debt to EBITDA of not greater than 3 to 1. EBITDA
includes net income from continuing operations less income taxes, net finance charges, depreciation and
amortization. For the years ended March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013, the Company operated with a
ratio well below the externally imposed covenant. The Company is prepared to increase the total debt to
equity ratio and net debt to EBITDA ratio if appropriate opportunities arise.
The capital management criteria can be illustrated as follows:

As at
Equity excluding accumulated other comprehensive income
Long-term debt
Bank indebtedness
Cash and cash equivalents
Capital under management
Debt to equity ratio

March 31
2014
$ 481,568
5,139
913
(76,466)
$ 411,154
0.01:1

March 31
2013
$ 398,727
1,175
––
(105,453)
$ 294,449
0.01:1
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26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE
Transactions between each subsidiary and the subsidiaries and parent are eliminated on consolidation.
The Company did not have any material related party transactions with entities outside the consolidated
group in the years ended March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013. The remuneration of the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) and key management personnel is determined by the Board on recommendation
from the Human Resources Committee of the Board:

As at
Salaries and benefits
Other non-equity incentive compensation
Stock-based compensation
Post-retirement benefits
Total remuneration

March 31
2014
$
2,435
2,111
4,592
945
$
10,083

March 31
2013
$
2,129
1,088
2,034
882
$
6,133

Stock-based compensation represents the remuneration of the Board and key management personnel as
reported in the consolidated statements of income stock-based compensation expense.
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